1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2	
3	* * * * * * * * * *
4	
5	MICHAEL DAMON RIPPO,
6	) Case No. 53626
7	Appellant, ) Electronically Filed Oct 16 2009 04:56 p.m.
8	Vs. Tracie K. Lindeman
9	E.K. McDANIEL, Warden, Ely State ) Prison, CATHERINE CORTEZ )
10	MASTO, Attorney General for Nevada,
11	Respondent.
12	
13	EIGHTY (80) PAGES
14	Appellant Michael Damon Rippo hereby moves this Court for permission to
15	file an opening brief that is ninety-three (93) pages in length, which exceeds the eighty page
16	limit provided for in NRAP 32(a)(7)(B), for capital cases. This motion is made and based
17	upon the following declaration of counsel. NRAP $32(a)(7)(C)$ .
18	DATED this 16 <sup>th</sup> day of October, 2009.
19	Respectfully submitted,
20	FRANNY A. FORSMAN
21	Federal Public Defender
22	DAVID ANTHONY
23	Assistant Federal Public Defender Nevada Bar No. 7978
24	411 East Bonneville Avenue, Suite 250 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
25 26	(702) 388-6577
26	Counsel for Appellant
27	
28	
	1
	Docket 53626 Document 2009-25337

 DECLARATION

 1
 DECLARATION

 2
 1. I am an attorney at law admitted to practice before this Court, employed as an

 3
 Assistant Federal Public Defender in the Capital Habeas Unit of the Federal Public

 4
 Defender's Office. I have been appointed to represent the appellant Michael Damon Rippo

 5
 in the instant appeal.

6 2. NRAP 32(a)(7)(B) permits the filing of an opening brief in a capital case that
7 is eighty (80) pages in length. Pursuant to NRAP 32(a)(7)(C), Mr. Rippo hereby moves this
8 Court for permission to file an opening brief that is ninety-three (93) pages in length. Mr.
9 Rippo requests permission to file a brief that exceeds the page limit by thirteen pages. Mr.
10 Rippo respectfully submits that he can demonstrate sufficient good cause and diligence to
11 file a brief that exceeds the page limit.

The petition filed by Mr. Rippo in the district court was 192 pages in length. 12 3. 13 The petition contains twenty-two constitutional claims, and several of the claims contain 14 multiple sub-claims. The instant appeal is Mr. Rippo's only opportunity to vindicate his right to the effective assistance of post-conviction counsel under Crump v. Warden, 113 Nev. 15 293, 934 P.2d 247 (1997), and he is also required to fairly present the merits of his 16 17 constitutional claims. NRAP 40(a)(3). The opposition to motion to dismiss that Mr. Rippo 18 filed in the district court was 104 pages in length (using twelve point font). In order to 19 shorten the instant brief, Mr. Rippo has omitted several of the procedural and substantive 20 issues that he raised below. The statement of the case and statement of facts in the instant 21 brief are each two pages in length.

4. In his first contention on appeal, Mr. Rippo alleged that post-conviction
counsel was ineffective in failing to conduct any investigation of facts outside of the record
on direct appeal. The argument section of post-conviction counsel's appeal brief was
approximately twenty pages in length, it contained inadequate citations to the record, and the
appendix failed to include any exhibits to support the contentions that were made in the brief.
The instant appeal is therefore Mr. Rippo's only opportunity to raise and litigate
constitutional claims which require investigation outside of the record on direct appeal, and

is the only opportunity to vindicate his right to the effective assistance of post-conviction
 counsel.

3 5. In his first claim, Mr. Rippo alleged that the trial judge who adjudicated his 4 case was biased against him. In order to sufficiently discuss the factual allegations of this 5 claim, Mr. Rippo has included the transcripts from the two federal criminal trials against the 6 trial judge as well as the state transcripts of the government informant who was used by the 7 FBI to offer bribes to the judge. In order to fairly present his claim, Mr. Rippo has set forth 8 in detail the factual representations of the state and trial judge that were made at trial as 9 compared against the facts that were later revealed in the federal criminal trials and the state 10 files of the government informant. The facts uncovered at the federal criminal trial relate 11 both to the judge's knowledge of the state's involvement in the federal investigation as well 12 as to the judge's relationship to the victim witness in the instant case. The argument section 13 for this claim is sixteen pages in length, and it includes sections addressing the procedural 14 defenses that were raised by the state and adopted by the district court. This section of the 15 brief is lengthy because it is based substantially upon complex facts that are outside of the record created on direct appeal. 16

17 6. In his second claim, Mr. Rippo alleged that the state committed egregious 18 prosecutorial misconduct warranting a new trial. On March 7, 1994, a motion to disqualify 19 the prosecutor's office was held and the transcript of this hearing is 162 pages in length. During trial, on February 7, 1996, an evidentiary hearing was held on the issue of 20 21 prosecutorial misconduct, and that transcript is 182 pages in length. There were also two 22 motions for a mistrial that were raised during trial based on prosecutorial misconduct. The 23 allegations of prosecutorial misconduct include misconduct in failing to disclose the state's 24 role in the investigation of the trial judge, the intimidation of a defense witness, the failure 25 to disclose material exculpatory and impeachment information, and misconduct in argument. 26 In order to receive a cumulative consideration of his claim of prosecutorial misconduct, Mr. 27 Rippo is required to discuss the misconduct contained in the trial record as well as newly 28 discovered information that is outside of the trial record. The factual and legal allegations

1 of this claim are twenty-one page in length.

24

25

26

27

28

2 7. The remaining twenty constitutional claims raised in Mr. Rippo's opening brief are contained in forty-three pages of the argument section, which averages approximately 3 two and a half pages of the opening brief for each claim. Within this section, Mr. Rippo has 4 attempted to distill the factual allegations of a social history which is 117 pages in length as 5 6 well as a neuropsychological report that is thirteen pages long, and approximately nine 7 declarations from mitigation witnesses. Mr. Rippo has also alleged that his prior conviction for sexual assault, which was used a statutory aggravating circumstance, is invalid, and he 8 9 has included all of the necessary transcripts relating to that conviction.

10 8. I have attempted to reduce the length of the instant brief as much as possible, and do not believe that I can make the brief shorter without jeopardizing Mr. Rippo's right 11 to receive an adequate review of the claims that infect his convictions and death sentences. 12 13 See 28 U.S.C. § 2254(b) (1, 3). I have attempted to comply with the Court's decisions requiring counsel both to shorten arguments presented, and to provide "cogent" supporting 14 15 authority for each constitutional claim. Compare Hernandez v. State, 117 Nev. 463, 466-467, 24 P.3d 767 (2001), with Browning v. State, 120 Nev. 347, 91 P.3d 39, 50, 53 (2004), State 16 17 v. Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 69 P.3d 676, 684 (2003).

18 9. I therefore request that this Court allow Mr. Rippo to file the accompanying
opening brief which exceeds the page limit by thirteen pages. This request is made in order
to provide Mr. Rippo with competent representation, NRPC 1.1, and not solely for the
purpose of delay or for any other improper purpose

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct and that this declaration was executed on October 16, 2009, in Las Vegas, Nevada.

> David Anthony Attorney for Appellant

1	<b>CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE</b>
2	I hereby certify that pursuant to NRCP 5(b)(2)(D) this document was filed
3	electronically with the Nevada Supreme Court on the 16th day of October, 2009. Electronic
4	Service of the foregoing MOTION TO PERMIT APPELLANT TO FILE A BRIEF
5	EXCEEDINGEIGHTY (80) PAGES shall be made in accordance with the Master Service
6	List as follows:
7	Steven Owens, Deputy District Attorney
8	
9	Katrina Manzi,
10	An Employee of the Federal Public Defender
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19 20	
20 21	
22	
22	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
	5