1	IN THE SUPREME COUR	RT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		
3 4		Electronically Filed Mar 24 2010 10:02 a.m.
5	MICHAEL DAMON RIPPO,) Case No. 5362 Tracie K. Lindeman
6	Appellant,	
7	V.	
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	
9	Respondent.	
10		
11	RESPONDENT'	S ANSWERING BRIEF
12	Appeal From Order I	Dismissing Second Petition for
13	Writ of Habeas (Eighth Judicial Dis	Dismissing Second Petition for Corpus (Post-Conviction) strict Court, Clark County
14	DAMB ANTHONY	DALWD DOGED
15	DAVID ANTHONY Assistant Federal Public Defender	DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781
16	Nevada Bar #007978 411 East Bonneville Ave., Ste. 250	Regional Justice Center

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

Thus, whereas defendant Polk was entitled to the change in law under <u>Byford</u> because his case was not yet final when <u>Byford</u> was published in 2000, Defendant does not receive this benefit as his case became final long before <u>Byford's</u> publication. Accordingly, since there is no retroactive application of <u>Byford</u>, Defendant did not suffer any constitutional deprivations that would entitle him to relief on this ground, thus illustrating that the District Court's ruling was not in error.

6. Claim 9: Allegation of Witness Intimidation - Alice Starr

Defendant also challenges the District Court's ruling that Claim 9 of his Second Petition was procedurally barred. In his appeal brief, Defendant deviates from the order in

which he presented these issues in his Second Petition. Claim 9 of his Second Petition, (19 JA 4532-4540), the alleged intimidation of an alibi witness, Alice Starr, was moved into the second main section of Defendant's appeal brief dealing with various claims of prosecutorial misconduct. (Def. Br. at p. 28-31).

In denying Claim 9, the District Court concluded in its findings that the issue was procedurally barred under NRS 34.726, 34.810(2) as well as under the doctrine of law of the case. (48 JA 11649-11650). Defendant's appeal fails to demonstrate how this was an arbitrary abuse of discretion. The District Court's ruling procedurally barring this matter was proper for several reasons.

First, this exact issue was raised on direct appeal thirteen years ago and this Court found that no constitutional violation took place. Specifically, this Court expressly stated "[W]e conclude that prosecutor's did not conduct witness intimidation warranting reversal." Rippo (I), 113 Nev. at 1251, 946 P.2d at 1025. Defendant freely acknowledged the procedural history of this issue, and more importantly, this Court's determination in his appeal brief. (Def. Br. at 30-31). Thus, since there was a definitive ruling on this claim over a decade ago, it cannot be re-raised and re-litigated. Hogan, 109 Nev. at 952, 860 P.2d at 710; NRS 34.810(2).

Second, Defendant did not provide any sufficient good cause or prejudice to justify rehashing an issue that this Court already definitively ruled on over a decade ago. The only justification Defendant could muster on appeal was pointing out the minute detail that this Court and the District Court never "acknowledged Mr. Lukens' testimony at trial regarding his involvement in securing benefits for the state's witnesses and his conduct during the discovery litigation." (Def. Br. at p 31: 2-4). The fatal flaw in this good cause argument is that it is itself simply procedurally barred. Defendant was aware of this alleged improper conduct for over a decade and yet failed to raise this claim at trial, direct appeal, or in his First Petition. Furthermore, to the extent Defendant seeks to make the good cause argument that his first post-conviction counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this issue earlier, this contention is wholly insufficient given the three year delay in raising an ineffective

Court correctly determined that the issue was procedurally barred by NRS 34.726, 34.810(2) and the doctrine of law of the case.

7. Claim 12: Alleged Improper Admission of Victim Impact Evidence

assistance of post-conviction counsel argument as discussed supra at p. 24-28. Now, without

any justifiable explanation for this delay. Defendant now seeks to re-raise an issue long

settled in his Second Petition. As a matter of law, Defendant is procedurally barred from

doing so. In light of this Court's clear ruling on the matter over a decade ago, the District

Defendant contends in Claim 12 that the trial court erred in allowing victim impact statements from both victims' family members and photo albums during the penalty phase because he felt that the family members' testimonies were prejudicial, irrelevant, and did not speak to the value of the life of either victim. (Def. Br. 69-73). The District Court's denial of this claim was proper for the following reasons.

First, the District Court properly determined that this claim was procedurally barred by NRS 34.726 and NRS 34.810(2) as well as the doctrine of law of the case. On appeal, despite repeated allegations that his trial counsel and first post-conviction counsel were ineffective for failing to raise and properly preserve this issue for appeal, Defendant simply ignored the fact that this was already reviewed by this Court on a direct appeal. See Rippo (I), 113 Nev. at 1261, 946 P.2d at 1031.

In reviewing the introduction of this victim impact evidence during the penalty phase that is now the subject of Claim 12, this Court concluded twelve years ago:

We conclude that each testimonial was individual in nature, and that the admission of the testimony was neither cumulative nor excessive. Thus, we conclude that the district court did not abuse its discretion in allowing all five witnesses to testify.

<u>Rippo (I)</u>, 113 Nev. at 1261, 946 P.2d at 1031. Since this matter was definitely resolved by this Court over a decade ago it cannot now be revisited.

Second, Defendant failed to establish any good cause or prejudice to overcome these procedural bars. To the extent Defendant attempts to avoid these bars by claiming ineffective assistance of his post-conviction counsel in failing to re-raise the issue sooner, the argument is clearly meritless as discussed <u>supra</u> at p. 24-28. Since there is no good cause or

prejudice to overcome the procedural bars of NRS 34.726, 34.810(2) as well as the doctrine of law of the case, the District Court's dismissal of this claim was proper.

8. Claim 13: Alleged Insufficient Evidence to find a Torture Aggravator

On appeal Defendant erroneously argues that it was an error to dismiss Claim 12 as there was constitutionally insufficient evidence to sustain a torture aggravating circumstance. (Def. Br. at 62-64). Despite Defendant's acknowledgement that this very same issue has already been put before this Court on direct appeal, twelve years ago, and this Court found there was sufficient evidence to sustain such an aggravator, Defendant nonetheless contends this Court ruled in error. (Def. Br. at 62-64). The denial of this claim was proper for the following reasons.

First, the claim is procedurally barred by NRS 34.726 and 34.810(2) and Defendant failed to demonstrate any good cause or prejudice to re-raise the issue. Second, discussion of this issue is precluded by the doctrine of law of the case. On direct appeal, this Court in considering this very issue held:

When we review the facts of this case and consider the entire episode as a whole – the strangulation and restraint, accompanied by the frightful, multiple blasts with a painful high voltage stun gun – we conclude that even though the stun gun shocks were not the cause of death, there is still evidence, under our interpretation of murder perpetrated by means of torture, to support a jury finding that there was, as an inseparable ingredient of these murders, a "continuum" or pattern of sadistic violence that justified the jury in concluding that these two murders were "perpetrated by means of ... torture."

Rippo (I), 113 Nev. at 1264, 946 P.2d at 1033. This Court reached that decision based on the conclusion that Defendant's repeated use of the stun gun on both victims was for a "sadistic purpose."

There seems to be little doubt that when Rippo was shocking these victims with a stun gun, he was doing so for the purpose of causing them pain and terror and for no other purpose. Rippo was not shocking these women with a stun gun for the purpose of killing them but, rather, it would appear, with a purely "sadistic purpose."

Id. Thus, this Court concluded that:

[T]here is evidence which would support a finding of "murder by means of ... torture" because the intentional infliction of pain is so much an integral part of these murders. Person who taunt and torture their murder victims as

<u>Id.</u>, 113 Nev. at 1264, 946 P.2d at 1032. As this Court has already ruled on this issue, it is the State's position that this issue is precluded from reconsideration by the law of the case doctrine. <u>Hogan</u>, 109 Nev. at 958, 860 P.2d at 715 (stating that "[t]he doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings.")

Finally, insomuch as Defendant contends, without any legal authority, that Ms. Hunt's testimony does not support the jury finding that Defendant used a stun gun in perpetrating his crimes, this Court in <u>Phoenix v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 116, 118 954 P.2d 739, 740 (1998), relied on <u>Rippo (I)</u>, 113 Nev. at 1263, 946 P.2d at 1032, and noted that in <u>Rippo (I)</u>, the testimony of the witness (Diana Hunt) was sufficient to sustain a finding of a ""pattern or continuum" of sadistic violence."

Furthermore, on appeal in Defendant's fifth section, he contends that Claim 13 as well as Claim 14 were improperly found to be aggravators, and thus, these invalid aggravators negated all possible aggravators that Defendant was found guilty for and consequently, resulted in a sentence of death. (Def. Br. At 62-69). However, as noted above as well in this brief's discussion of Claim 14, <u>infra</u> at p. 75-76, both of these aggravators remain valid and accordingly, Defendant's claim of actual innocence under the death penalty is without merit.

9. Claim 15: The Alleged Erroneous Harmless Error Analysis

On appeal, it appears that due to Defendant's failure to raise an argument regarding the denial of Claim 15, Defendant concedes that the District Court's dismissal of the claim was not in error. (See generally Def. Br.). Given that this Court ruled on this exact issue in Defendant's appeal from the denial of his First Petition, its finding is now law of the case. Hall, 91 Nev. at 315, 535 P.2d at 798. After striking three of the six original aggravating circumstances pursuant to this Court's 2004 decision in McConnell v. State (I), 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004), this Court considered the specific issue of whether the jurors

could have found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances "even it they had considered only the three valid aggravating circumstances rather than six." Rippo (II), 122 Nev. 1094, 146 P.3d at 284. This Court reviewed the mitigating circumstances presented during the penalty phase, and concluded:

The evidence in mitigation was not particularly compelling. We conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jurors would have found that the mitigating circumstances did not outweigh the three valid aggravating circumstances and, after consideration of the evidence as a whole, would have rendered a sentence of death.

<u>Id.</u> Thus, since this issue was already decided by this Court, and is barred from reconsideration by the doctrine of law of the case, the District Court's denial of Claim 15 was proper.

10. Claim 16: Alleged Failure to Instruct the Jury that Weighing Must Be Found Beyond a Reasonable Doubt

Despite the fact that this issue was clearly procedurally barred under NRS 34.726 and 34.810(2), Defendant contends that the District Court should not have dismissed Claim 16, because the jury was never instructed that the State must prove that the aggravating circumstances must outweigh the mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. (Def. Br. at 60-62). However, as readily acknowledged by Defendant on appeal, this Court has recently considered whether or not a jury must be instructed as such in McConnell v. State (II). 125 Nev. _____, 212 P.3d 307 (2009). In examining this very issue this Court expressly rejected this notion and held that

Nothing in the plain language of these provisions requires a jury to find, or the State to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt that no mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating circumstances in order to impose the death penalty. Similarly, this court has imposed no such requirement. In DePasquale v. State, we rejected an invitation to overturn previously established case law and require the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that aggravating circumstances outweigh mitigating circumstances. 106 Nev. 843, 852, 803 P.2d 218, 223 (1990)....

McConnell, 125 Nev. at ____, 212 P.3d at 314-15 (emphasis added). Despite this clear ruling on the issue, Defendant steadfastly maintains that this Court is "simply wrong." (Def. Br. at

p. 60). Regardless of Defendant's opinion on this Court's ability to properly interpret the State's laws, the precedent from this jurisdiction is clear: There is no requirement to instruct the jury that the State must prove that the aggravating circumstances must outweigh the mitigating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, the District Court's denial of this claim was proper.

11. Claim 17: Alleged Erroneous Jury Instruction Suggesting That Mitigation Had to Be Found Unanimously and an Anti-Sympathy Instruction

On appeal, Defendant argues that it was an error to dismiss his claim regarding the erroneous jury instruction that suggested that mitigation outweighing the aggravators had be found unanimously. In addition to being procedurally barred pursuant to NRS 34.726 and NRS 34.810(2) this issue was raised on appeal and this Court rejected the arguments. Consequently, its findings are now law of the case. Hall, 91 Nev. at 315, 535 P.2d at 798.

On appeal from the denial of his First Petition, this Court raised the issue of the erroneous mitigating circumstance jury instruction in striking three of the six aggravating circumstances. This Court noted that the last sentence of Jury Instruction #7 "included an incorrect application regarding the consideration of mitigating circumstances." Rippo (II), 122 Nev. at 1095, 146 P.3d at 285. Nonetheless, this Court concluded:

[D]espite the inaccurate wording at the end of the instruction, the instruction clearly and properly stated that each individual juror could find mitigating circumstances without the agreement of any other jurors and further provided that the jurors had to be unanimous in finding that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. It is extremely unlikely that jurors were misled to believe that they could not give effect to a mitigating circumstance without the unanimous agreement of the other jurors. We conclude that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>Id.</u> Of particular import is this Court's footnote 18, in which this Court observed:

The latter statement contains a slight mistake that actually favored Rippo. Aggravating circumstances need not outweigh mitigating circumstances to impose a death sentence; rather, NRS 200.030(4)(a) provides in part that a defendant is eligible for death if "any mitigating circumstance or circumstances which are found do not outweigh the aggravating circumstance or circumstances.

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). Therefore, the District Court's ruling in finding this claim procedurally barred pursuant to NRS 34.726, 34.810(2) and the doctrine of law of the case was proper.

Although Defendant readily acknowledges that this ruling has already been decided by this Court, he contends this Court simply made the wrong ruling and seeks yet another bite at the apple. As good cause for raising this issue, is the wholly unsubstantiated accusation that former Nevada Supreme Court Justice and current Deputy District Attorney of the Clark County District Attorney's office, Nancy Becker, ruled against Defendant on this issue, solely in an attempt to curry favor with the District Attorney's office. (Def. Br. At 57-59). Defendant believes, without a shred of evidence to support his theory that Nancy Becker made this ruling in order to secure a job with the District Attorney's office. Although Defendant has no idea as to when Nancy Becker sought out this new position, Defendant has made the illogical leap that 1) it must have been at the time she issued a ruling on this matter and 2) was done in an effort to secure herself a position with the District Attorney's office.

To the extent Defendant alleges that Nancy Becker faced pressure to rule in favor of the State and therefore, should have recused herself from Defendant's case, Defendant's bare claim is utterly devoid of any factual support which would entitle him to relief of his claim. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225 (a defendant seeking post-conviction relief must raise more than conclusory claims for relief; he must support his claims with specific allegations which "if true would entitle him to relief.")

12. Claim 19: The Alleged Improper Reasonable Doubt Instruction

On appeal, Defendant claims that the reasonable doubt instruction submitted to the jury at trial was unconstitutional because it allegedly lessened the State's burden of proof. (Def. Br. at p. 84). However, the District Court's denial of this claim was proper for several reasons. First, the District Court ruled that this claim was procedurally barred by NRS 34.726. The facts at the heart of this claim originated from events at trial that took place twelve years ago, yet now, Defendant brings forth this issue over a decade later. As

6

8

9

10 11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

discussed supra at p. 24-28, Defendant has not alleged any good cause or prejudice to reraise this claim.

Second, Defendant failed to preserve this issue for appeal in failing to make an objection during trial. McCullough v. State, 99 Nev. 72, 74, 657 P.2d 1157, 1158 (1983). Despite this fact, this Court still reviewed this issue on appeal from the denial of his First Petition under the guise of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to appeal on this issue. Rippo (II), 122 Nev. at 1095, 146 P.3d at 285. Upon considering the matter this Court rejected the argument on the grounds that Defendant failed to show that any plain error was committed or that his substantial rights were affected. Id.

Despite Defendant's admission that this Court has "rejected this claim on numerous occasions," (Def. Br. at 83-84), Defendant still is inclined to raise the matter again. However, Defendant offered no sufficient good cause to explain the unacceptable delay in raising this matter. Accordingly, since there is no good cause or prejudice to overcome these procedural bars, as well as the fact that this Court has already considered the matter, the District Court's dismissal of this claim was proper. In his first petition, Defendant alleged trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the reasonable doubt instruction because that jury instruction "imposes an impermissibly high standard for the quantum of doubt required for acquittal." Id., at 52. Stated another way, Defendant argued that the reasonable doubt instruction lessened the State's burden of proof. Thus, the instant claim is successive pursuant to NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2) and should be dismissed absent good cause and actual prejudice.

However, should this Court, in its discretion, consider the merits of Defendant's claim, the precedent set forth by this Court demonstrates that this identical jury instruction has been upheld as constitutional and determined to not minimize the State's burden of proof. See e.g., Leonard v. State, 114 Nev. 1196, 969 P.2d 288 (1999); Noonan v. State, 115 Nev. 184, 980 P.2d 637 (1999); Chambers v. State, 113 Nev. 974, 944 P.2d 805 (1997); Evans v. State, 112 Nev. 1172, 926 P.2d 265 (1996); Quillen v. State, 112 Nev. 1369, 929 P.2d 893 (1996); Bollinger v. State, 111 Nev. 1110, 1115, 901 P.2d 671 (1995); Lord v.

State, 107 Nev. 28, 806 P.2d 548 (1991), (citing Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985)); Beets v. State, 107 Nev. 957, 963, 821 P.2d 1044 (1991). This is in all likelihood due to the fact that in the instant case, the jury instruction relating to reasonable doubt mirrors the exact language of NRS 175.211(1), which states:

A reasonable doubt is one based on reason. It is not mere possible doubt, but is such a doubt as would govern or control a person in the more weighty affairs of life. If the minds of the jurors, after the entire comparison and consideration of all the evidence, are in such a condition that they can say they feel an abiding conviction of the truth of the charge, there is not a reasonable doubt. Doubt to be reasonable must be actual, not mere possibility or speculation.

<u>Id.</u> Since there is no reasonable probability that the jury believed the instruction allowed the conviction of Defendant based on a lesser quantum of evidence than is required by the Constitution, the District Court's denial was proper.

13. Claim 21: Alleged Cumulative Error

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

On appeal, Defendant claims that were enough errors committed by the District Court and his prior proceedings to warrant a reversal of his convictions and death sentence. (Def. Br. at p. 92-93). This Court has held that under the doctrine of cumulative error, "although individual errors may be harmless, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may deprive a defendant of the constitutional right to a fair trial." Pertgen v. State, 110 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 368 (1994), (citing Sipsas v. State, 102 Nev. 119, 716 P.2d 231 (1986)); see also Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1, 3, 692 P.2d 1288, 1289 (1985). The relevant factors to consider in determining "whether error is harmless or prejudicial include whether 'the issue of innocence or guilt is close, the quantity and character of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged." Big Pond, 101 Nev. at 3, 692 P.2d at 1289. The doctrine of cumulative error "requires that numerous errors be committed, not merely alleged." People v. Rivers, 727 P.2d 394, 401 (Colo. App. 1986); see also People v. Jones, 665 P.2d 127, 131 (Colo. App. 1982). Evidence against the defendant must therefore be "substantial enough to convict him in an otherwise fair trial" and it must be said "without reservation that the verdict would have been the same in the absence of the error." Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 724, 765 P.2d 1153, 1156 (1988).

17 18

19

21 22

20

23 24

25

26 27 28

Here, the record is clear that no error were committed by the District Court in denying his Second Petition and thus, there is and can be no cumulative error worthy of reversal. LaPena v. State, 92 Nev. 1, 14, 544 P.2d 1187, 1195 (1976) ("nothing plus nothing plus nothing is nothing."). Defendant's claims of error are meritless. His Second Petition was properly procedurally barred pursuant to NRS 34.726, NRS 34.810(2), NRS 34.810(1)(B) and the doctrine of law of the case. Defendant failed to demonstrate any good cause of prejudice sufficient to overcome a near decade-long delay. Furthermore, given the extension nature of these post-conviction proceedings, it is not surprising that this Court has already rejected Defendant's claim of cumulative error. see Rippo (I), 113 Nev. at 1255, 946 P.2d at 1027. Thus, this claim is barred from further review by the law of the case doctrine. Hall, 91 Nev. at 314, 535 P.2d at 797. Accordingly, Defendant's 21st Claim was properly dismissed.

Ш

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED CLAIMS 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 11, 14, 18
AND 20 AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED UNDER NRS 34.810(1)(B) AS
SUCCESSIVE BECAUSE THEY SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL OR IN DEFENDANT'S FIRST PETITION.

1. Claim 2: Alleged Brady Violations and Prosecutorial Misconduct

Please see the State's argument on this issue at supra p. 32-43.

2. Claim 4: Alleged Ineffective Assistance During Voir Dire

Defendant claims that the District Court erred in dismissing his ineffective assistance of counsel claims specifically as it related to the juror voir dire process. (Def. Br. at 86-89). Defendant argues that his trial counsel was ineffective during the voir dire process. (Id. at 86). It appears that since it has taken over ten years to finally bring this claim, Defendant also implies his first post conviction counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim. Claim 4 of Defendant's Second Petition was properly dismissed by the District Court for the following reasons.

First, the District Court correctly dismissed this petition in its entirety pursuant NRS 34.726 as being well outside the one-year time bar. (48 JA 11649). This claim should have been raised within one year of the issuance of remittitur on direct appeal, but was not

brought to the District Court's attention until over a decade had elapsed. Second, this particular claim was also dismissed on the grounds that it was procedurally barred pursuant to NRS 34.810(1)(B). (Id. at 11650). Defendant has known about all of these trial-related jury voir dire claims since the beginning of trial well over a decade ago, yet failed to raise these matters either in his direct appeal or in his First Petition. Rather, Defendant waited until 2008 to raise these issues in his Second Petition. To date, Defendant has still failed to provide any good cause or prejudice to excuse why it took him over a decade to bring claims that originated at the beginning of his trial. Thus, District Court's determination that this claim is procedurally barred was proper. (48 JA 11649-11650).

Second, to the extent Defendant contends that the "good cause" for his delay was the ineffectiveness of his first post-conviction counsel, in failing to raise this claim earlier; this argument is wholly insufficient as well. As discussed <u>supra</u> at p. 24-28, Defendant must show that his delay was caused by "an impediment external to the defense prevented him or her from complying with the state procedural default rules." <u>Hathaway</u>, 119 Nev. 248, 71 P.3d at 506 (2003). Moreover, the delay in filing of the petition *must not* be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a). Additionally, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel *that is in itself procedurally barred cannot constitute good cause for excusing the procedural bars for itself or any other claim.* Riker, 121 Nev. at 225, 112 P.3d at 1070 (emphasis added).

Here, Defendant failed to prove that his "good cause" argument of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel was timely, thus this lone good cause argument is procedurally barred, and consequently, so is his original ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim regarding the voir dire process. As discussed, if Defendant was displeased with his first post-conviction counsel, specifically his failure to raise this voir dire issue in the First Petition, Defendant could have immediately filed another post-conviction petition citing his first post-conviction counsel's ineffectiveness. The matter required no further investigation as all of the alleged failures of trial counsel occurred at the outset of his trial, which began all the back in January 1996. However, Defendant did not seek to return to

1 District Court in a timely manner with a second petition. Instead, Defendant waited another 2 three years before filing his Second Petition on January 15, 2008. This three-year delay 3 demonstrates that Defendant's good cause argument of ineffective assistance of post 4 conviction counsel was wholly untimely, and thus is itself procedurally barred. Riker, 121 5 Nev. at 225, 112 P.3d at 1070; Edwards, 529 U.S. at 453. Further compounding 6 Defendant's inexcusable delay, was Defendant's decision to file a Federal Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, rather than returning to District Court on April 18, 2007 – nearly one 8 year before he filed the Second Petition in District Court. As discussed, seeking a federal 11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

9 remedy and thus failing to seek state habeas relief within the one-year time bar also does not 10 amount to good cause sufficient to overcome NRS 34.726(1)(a). Colley, 105 Nev. at 235,

773 P.2d at 1229. Accordingly, in light of this three-year delay, Defendant's good cause argument of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel is itself untimely and thus cannot serve to excuse Defendant's decade long delay in bringing Claim 4.

To the extent, Defendant contends that the clock for the procedural bar began, not at the District Court's denial of his First Petition, but rather at the date this Court issued remittitur affirming the District Court's denial of the First Petition, Defendant and his second petition counsel still waited nearly a year after remittitur before bringing this claim. To date, there is not a single published case that states second post conviction counsel are entitled to an additional one-year window in order to bring a *second* post-conviction writ of habeas corpus. Defendant had one year from the issuance of remittitur from his direct appeal to raise all of his post-conviction issues. He failed to do so in waiting over ten years to bring this claim. He also failed to provide any sufficient good cause as his lone argument of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel was also wholly untimely. In light of this factual record, the District Court properly determined that this claim was procedurally barred.

Assuming arguendo, that this Court found this claim to be timely, Defendant still failed to bring a successful ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim. As discussed, supra at p. 24-28, in order to assert a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel a defendant must

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